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The School for Graduate Studies 

EDITORIAL NOTE: The substance of this ar­
ticle is taken from a forthcoming book on the 
history of Concordia Seminary. 

The history and changing philosophies 
of what is now known as the School 

for Graduate Studies illustrate in capsule 
form the changes and struggles which the 
seminary itself has experienced during the 
past years. 

At the 1920 Detroit convention of the 
Missouri Synod, in which the delegates 
voted to build a new seminary plant, "an 
elective year for graduates was authorized 
after the adverse recommendations of the 
committee had been rejected." 1 

Before the faculty was ready for this step, 
however, extensive studies had to be made. 
Ludwig Fuerbringer and John Fritz were 
asked to serve as the committee to bring 
in proposals as soon as possible regarding 
a graduate school (pastgrad. Kurs). The 
faculty resolved that Fuerbringer should 
take over the duties as dean for the post­
graduate department. It was Fuerbringer, 
too, who was to bring the recommendation 
whether or not the graduate degree should 
be the master of sacred theology or some 
other academic degree.2 Steps were taken 
to provide scholarships. Theodore Lam­
precht suggested, according to 1. Fuer­
bringer's report, "that scholarships be 
created for designated disciplines." A Grad­
uate-Support Association was organized. 

1 Missouri Synod, Proceedings, 1920, Eng!. 
ed., p. 19; ibid., 1920, Germ. ed., p.43. 

2 "Fakultats Protokolle, 1907-23," Concor­
dia Seminary, St. Louis, in Concordia Historical 
Institute, p. 222, Oct. 23, 1922, and p. 225, 
Feb. 5, 1923. 
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The graduate school became a reality in 
the 1923-24 school year with six students 
in attendance.3 George Stoeckhardt Hall 
in the new seminary in Clayton provided 
dormitory facilities for graduate students, 
:md two classrooms on the second Hoor of 
'VV'yneken Hall over the northwest en­
trance were constructed for the "post­
graduate department's" use. Twenty-eight 
men received the S. T. M. degree between 
1923 and 1931. Among these 28 were 
Leroy Rincker, .. Arthur Klinck, O. P. Kretz­
mann, Alfred O. Fuerbringer, Richard R. 
Caemmerer, and Alexander Heidel, noted 
Semitics scholar, who died in June 1955.4 

The graduate school became a victim of 
the Great Depression. The official reason 
given for its close during the 1931-32 
school year was "the small number who had 
enrolled." 5 There are reasons to believe 

3 Missouri Synod, Proceedings, 1923, Engl. 
ed., pp. 13, 14. 

4 "Degrees Conferred," records in the grad· 
uate school office, Concordia Seminary, St. Louis. 

In 1929 the report stated that 63 students 
had enrolled in the postgraduate department 
during the first seven years of its existence, of 
whom five came from other synods. Misssouri 
Synod, Reports and Memorials, 1929, p.2. 

In a letter addressed to Dr. Oscar L. Olson 
at Luther College, Decorah, Iowa, on Feb. 4, 
1931, Theodore Graebner said regarding the 
conferring of the S. T. M. degree by Concordia 
Seminary: "Students originating from Lutheran 
bodies outside of the Synodical Conference may 
receive such degrees upon a study of our doc­
trinal position, when they have declared them­
selves in a manner which will permit us to look 
upon them as standing in st~tu confessionis." 
Theodore Graebner Papers, CHI, Box No. 24. 

5 Missouri 
1932, p. 3. 

Synod, Reports and Memorials, 
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that it did not quite meet the expectations 
of the students in offering a wide enough 
choice of subjects. Very little effort was 
made to solicit students. In view of the fact 
that some of the graduates in 1930 and 
in 1931 went on to universities for further 
study, it cannot be said that a lack of means 
was the sole reason for students not en­
rolling. In the thinking of many, even be­
fore it was organized, the graduate school 
was to perform a protective function. 
Liberal tendencies in the graduate depart­
ments of divinity schools and universities 
were bringing "great harm" to the Chris­
tian church, it was said.6 

Synod was not minded that graduate 
work should be discontinued at Concordia 
Seminary. At the convention in 1935 it 
resolved "that this department be resumed 
as soon as possible." Nevertheless, it took 
three years before the graduate school was 
reopened. The large seminary enrollment, 
it was said, required "the entire energy and 
time of the faculty," and did not allow it 
to take up added classes. In 1938 the 
graduate course was again introduced and 
a full course of studies was offered during 
the 1939-40 school year.7 When the 
graduate school was reorganized in 1938, 
a graduate committee was appointed, con­
sisting of Ludwig E. Fuerbringer, Frederick 
E. Mayer, and Alfred M. Rehwinkel. 

In 1942 a change was made in the re­
quirements for the master of sacred the­
ology degree, when the system of major 
and minor requirements was set up. These 
were closely geared to the courses which 

6 The Lutheran Witness, XXXV (Oct. 17, 
1916), 325, 326, criticized a half dozen schools 
without, however, advocating a graduate school 
.at Concordia Seminary. 

7 Missouri Synod, Reports and Memorials, 
1941, p. 2. 

the student had taken toward his bachelor 
of divinity degree. The requirements, how­
ever, were moving definitely in the direc­
tion of strict graduate study, rather than 
simply an additional year of residence work. 
Then in 1944 Alfred M. Rehwinkel was 
appointed as director of the graduate 
school. In the same year the program for 
the degree of doctor of theology was set up. 
Permission for a student to pursue the doc­
toral program was contingent on the 
quality of his work during the first year 
of his graduate studies, the caliber of the 
thesis which he had submitted for his 
S. T. M. degree, the superior quality of his 
examinations, his ability in languages, and 
his general attitude. Requirements for 
completing the degree were set in terms of 
a major and three minors, plus the dis­
sertation, language requirements, and ex­
aminations. The general requirements 
read: 

In general the requirements for this de­
gree shall not be measured so much by 
hours and credits as by the evidence that 
the candidate possesses in a high degree 
a scholarly attitude, is able to do inde­
pendent research work in the £reId of 
theology, has a comprehensive knowledge 
of the whole field of theology, and has 
successfully concentrated in some partic­
ular field.8 

The first earned doctorate was granted 
in 1946 to the Rev. Roy Suelflow, at that 
time missionary to China. Three doc­
torates were awarded in 1953. Between 
1946 and 1956, inclusive, only 7 doctorates 
were awarded; between 1957 and 1964, 
inclusive, there were 24 doctorates. No 
longer was the school open only to Lu­
therans . 

8 Concordia Seminary, Catalog, June 1944 to 
January 1945, p.41. 
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Shortly after the inauguration of the doc­
toral program the board of control reported 
to the Synod that manpower shortage, lack 
of adequate classroom facilities, the lack of 
suitable living quarters for graduate stu­
dents, and a shortage of attractive scholar­
ships were preventing the full development 
of the graduate program. It stated: 

We have improved the pretheological 
training of our clergy, but have done 
very little toward the development of our 
theological training beyond the traditional 
three years. Other Lutheran bodies are 
beginning to feel the serious need of a 
stronger graduate theological school in 
America because of the situation of the 
church and Lutheran scholarship in 
Europe, and because even now many 
Lutheran scholars and theologians ate 
doing their advanced theological research 
work in Reformed and even highly mod­
ernistic theological schools. The effect of 
this on the future of the church is in­
evitable. We have made a humble begin­
ning in establishing a graduate school, 
but much more must be done before our 
goal has been reached.9 

It was in this same year, the centennial 
year of the Missouri Synod, that the Kansas 
District (Walter H. Meyer, President; Wil­
liam J. Stelling, Secretary) presented a 
lengthy, forward-looking petition to Synod 
asking for the establishment of an Institute 

for Postgraduate Study and Research.10 At 
the same time a petition from the Lutheran 
Academy for Scholarship, of which Martin 
H. Scharlemann was president, asked for 
the furthering of theological research.H 

Both petitions were referred to the Prae-

9 Missouri Synod, Reports and Memorials, 
1947, pp. 5,6. 

10 Ibid., 1947, p. 4l. 

11 Ibid., 1947, p. 86. 

sidium (the President and the four Vice­
Presidents of the Synod), who, it seems, 
did not take up this particular matter. The 
petition of the Kansas District was a 
strongly worded one, pleading for research 
and for the training of men on a high pro­
fessional level as leaders within Synod, 
professors, and research scholars. Even 
after almost two decades these goals have 
only been approximated; the vision has not 
yet been encompassed. World relief de­
mands, m.i.ssion expansion, problems of 
Lutheran union and unity were seemingly 
more pressing. 

Nonetheless, an emphasis was being 
placed also on the need for scholarship. 
"We must do both - train pastors and 
missionaries and also Lutheran scholars," 

the 1950 report of the board of control 
stated.12 Emphasis, too, was being placed 
in the post-World War II era on the pas­
toral proficiency and the theological equip­
ment of those who were seeking further 
education 10 the graduate school. It was 
stated: 

Our seminary ought to aim to exert a 
greater influence in the theological world 
today. In God's own providence the dis­
turbed nations of me world have helped 
to bring our Synod and Concordia Semi­
nary to the attention of Lutheranism in 
the world. The lutheran Hour and other 
factors have also contributed to make our 
seminary known here in America. The 
time is, therefore, most propitious for 
us to take the initiative in bringing our 
influence to bear on Lutheran and Protes­
tant theology. . . . The influence that 
Concordia Seminary can exert through its 
graduate school is beyond calculation.13 

12 Ibid., 1950, p. 9. 

13 Ibid., 1950, pp. 9, 10. 
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This plea was repeated in substance by 
President Oliver R. Harms when he spoke 
to the St. Louis faculty on Sept. 3, 1964. 

One of the needs, which had been urged 
repeatedly, was met when the "Graduate 
Hall" was erected in 1951 and dedicated on 
Jan. 20, 1952. Following the death of 
President Louis J. Sieck in the latter year, 
the building was redesignated "Sieck Hall." 
The need for men to teach in the graduate 
school remained. Attractive scholarships 
and the enrollment of qualified men, par­
ticularly instructors in the preparatory 
schools of Synod, were further needs of 
the school. One change in emphasis might 
be noted. It was urged that previous to 

about 1930 all instructors in the preparatory 
schools of the Synod's system had received 
their entire education in Synod's schools. 
By 1953 this condition no longer prevailed. 
Many men had received their training in 
secular colleges or universities. While the 
desire for self-improvement and the readi­
ness to equip themselves better for their 
professional tasks on the part of these men 
were recognized, it was felt that this situa­
tion embodied in it a danger that in the 
course of time might "affect the spirit of 
our schools and the character of our the­
ology." It would be better if these teachers 
received graduate training at the seminary. 
The need for men qualified to teach the­
ology in the theological seminaries of the 
church was also recognized and advanced 
as a reason for furthering the graduate 
5choo1.14 

Scholarships were provided, at least in 
part, by the Advanced Scholarship Fund 
under the direction of the Board for Higher 
Education. A program of fellowships was 
:set up in 1944 and became a permanent 

14 Ibid., 1953, pp. 8-10. 

part of the graduate school program. 
A research scholarship of $500, known as 
the LLL Centennial Scholarship of the 
South Minnesota District, was awarded in 
1951. The William Scheele Scholarship 
Fund and the Aid Association for Lutherans 
scholarships were established in 1960. 
With these stimuli the school is growing 
in numbers and in effectiveness. Within 
15 years after its reopening it is on de­
cidedly solid ground. 

On Feb. 1, 1954, Martin H. Scharlemann 
became director of the School for Graduate 
Studies, replacing Alfred M. Rehwinkel. 
With the change in the directorate a change 
was also mde in the name of the school, 
The new name, School for Graduate 
Studies, was explained in terms of broad­
ened objectives: 

1. To give qualified seminary graduates 
and pastors an opportunity to acquire the 
content and method of theological scholar­
ship, under the guidance of a faculty moti­
vated by reverence for the Scriptures as 
the Word of God and by loyalty to the 
Lutheran Confessions. 

2. To provide the opportunity for quali­
fied individuals teaching at the seminary 
and college levels to acquire advanced 
credits and degrees in theology for in­
creased effectiveness in their classroom ac­
tivities. 

3. To serve as an instrument in develop­
ing active leadership for the church in 
doctrine and practice; and 

4. To serve as a theological research 
center for The Lutheran Church - Mis­
souri Synod.15 

The need for highly trained personnel 
to lead toward a more excellent ministry in 
several areas of Synod's activities was urged 
as a strong reason for the further expansion 

15 Ibid., 1956, pp. 4, 5. 
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of the School for Graduate Studies. A new 
program was inaugurated in 1956 with the 
establishment of the master of arts in 
religion program. It was stated: "The 
development of this further program 
should make it possible for selected gradu­
ates of the teachers colleges and the Spring­
field seminary to continue their professional 
studies and preparation toward a further 
goal." Men and women holding a bach­
elor's degree with a concentration in reli­
gion could enroll. The first degrees were 
conferred in 1957 on Ernest J. Dycus and 
James E. Seim, two non-Lutherans. Be­
tween 1957 and 1964, 14 men and 
4 women have earned t..~e degree.16 

A broadened horizon is evident in the 
1959 report of the School for Graduate 
Studies. The report speaks not only of the 
need for a greater number of instructors in 
the educational system of the church, but 
also points to the need of theological semi­
naries in the Asiatic and African countries. 
It talks about the need for theological ex­
perts "serving the parish ministry" who 
would act as resource persons at confer­
ences and conventions. It caIls attention to 
"the complex demands of the church today, 
relations with other church bodies, educa­
tional and synodical administration, and 
religious journalism" as factors which call 
for leaders with specialized and advanced 
theological training. Creative scholarship 
is mentioned for the first time as an active 
ingredient in the requirements for promot­
ing the School for Graduate Studies, and 
that in order to give "an increasingly effec­
tive witness to our age." 17 

16 "Degrees Conferred," records in the grad­
uate school office. 

17 Missouri Synod, Reports and Memorials, 
1959, pp. 4, 5. 

Paul M. Bretscher was appointed profes­
sor of graduate studies in 1955. The 
synodical convention in 1962 urged that 
two more graduate professors be appointed. 
In 1963 Arthur Carl Piepkorn becan1e the 
second graduate school professor. In 1960 
Carl S. Meyer was named director of the 
School for Graduate Studies, after having 
served one year as acting director, during 
the absence of Scharlemann on sabbatical 
leave. 

The total research activities of the stu­
dents in the School for Graduate Studies 
can only be inferred. Up to June 1964 
a total of 240 M. S. T. degrees and 31 
Th. D. degrees have been conferred. Eleven 
men wrote their doctoral dissertations in 
the New Testament area; seven in Sys­
tematics; five each in Old Testament and 
Historical Theology; and three in Practical. 

The research function of the School for 
Graduate Studies received impetus when 
in 1962 the Committee for Concordia 
Archaeological Studies in the Neat East was 
organized. This committee together with 
the American Schools for Oriental Re­
search, through grants from the Research 
Committee of Synod and particularly the 
Aid Association for Lutherans, sponsored 
the archaeological expedition at Ta'annach 
in 1963 and hopes to sponsor a "dig" in 
alternate years for an indefinite period. 
Again, with the aid of a grant from the 
Committee on Research a special study on 
"Church and Ministry" was inaugurated 
under the auspices of the School for Grad­
uate Studies.1s In cooperation with the 
Wheat Ridge Foundation a program for 

18 The first publication to come from this 
study is the volume by Richard R. Cae=erer 
and Erwin 1. Lueker, Church and Ministry in 
T1'ansition (St. Louis: Concordia Publishing 
House, 1964). 
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training six selected pastors as clinical psy­
chologists at the University of Minnesota, 
with advanced training at Concordia Semi­
nary, was inaugurated in 1962. In 1964 
another grant from the Research Commit­
tee made possible the start of a research 
project on Inerrancy, Inspiration, and 
Revelation, a study urged by the Commis­
sion on Theology and Church Relations. 
The 1962 convention of the Missouri 
Synod also specifically asked the School for 
Graduate Studies, particularly through its 
research committee on church and min­
istry, to take up a number of other ques­
tions.19 The 1959 resolution of Synod 
encouraging Concordia Seminary to become 
"a greater center of research also in the 
Biblical manuscripts," however, was not 
implemented immediately. 

With the inauguration of the Concordia 
Seminary Research Center, in September 
1963, a significant step was taken in broad­
ening the functions of the School for 
Graduate Studies. Efforts made by Paul 
W. Lange, superintendent of Lutheran high 
schools in St. Louis, to instigate research by 
Concordia Seminary on the effectiveness 
of Christian secondary education were 
matched by the interest of the educational 
committee of the Council of Lutheran 
Churches in St. Louis. A coordination of 
efforts resulted in the establishment of the 
research center with the approval of the 
Board for Higher Education. Ronald John­
stone was appointed as the director of the 
research center. The project originally 
suggested by Lange was adopted as the first 
project by the advisory committee which 
was set up. This committee consisted of 
representatives from the seminary, the 

19 Missouri Synod, Proceedings, 1962, pp. 89, 
75. 

Council of Lutheran Churches, Synodical 
and District offices, and two laymen con­
nected with Washington University and 
the St. Louis public school system respec­
tively. The objectives of the Concordia 
Research Center are: 

1. To devise and conduct studies ... 
designed to aid in planning and evaluating 
the effectiveness of our system of elemen­
tary and secondary Christian education, our 
mission methods in the inner city, suburbia, 
rural areas, and foreign fields, our mission 
outreach to minority groups, our efforts in 
the field of social welfare, and also an as­
sessment of the beliefs, attitudes, and 
behavior patterns of full-time church work­
ers as well as laymen, whether child, youth, 
or adult. 

2. To engage as a general rule in basic 
or primary research in which data not avail­
able from other sources are gathered ... 

3. To assist and advise agencies and 
groups of congregations with regard to 

problems they might encounter as they 
confront their community ... 

4. To serve as a center of information, 
and, to whatever extent possible, serve as 
a center of coordination of research being 
conducted within, by, and for the church ... 

5. To serve as a data and idea source 
for graduate degree candidates both at the 
seminary and at other institutions of higher 
learning. 

6. To maintain contact with other de­
nominational research people for the pur­
pose of sharing ideas and study results as 
well as to provide the opportunity for con­
ducting JOlnt studies that might be 
mutually beneficial. 

7. To report the results of studies in a 
form appropriate to the scope and im­
portance of the study. 
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The establishment of the Publications 
Fund in 1956 permitted the inauguration 
of a series of Graduate Studies. The first of 
these studies was entitled The Survival of 
the Historic Vestments of the Lutheran 
Church After 1555, by Arthur Carl Piep­
korn (1955; second edition in 1958; third 
edition and a translation into German in 
publication). A doctoral dissertation writ­
ten by Henry P. Hamann, Justification by 
Faith in Modern Theology, was published 
in this series in 1957. In 1958 the 356-
page book What, Then, Is Man? was pub­
lished by Concordia Publishing House. 
This study of man as viewed in theology, 
psychology, and psychiatry was a team 
product in which Paul Meehl of the Uni­
versity of Minnesota, Kenneth Breimeier 

and Martin Scharlemann of Concordia 
Seminary, and Richard Klann participated. 
Other works published in this series have 
been Caspar Schwenkfeld on the Person 
and Work of Christ, by Paul 1. Maier; 
Qumran and Cori1zth, by Martin H. Schar­
lemann (New York: Bookman Associates, 
1962); and Yahweh and Baal, a study of 
the conflict between the worship of Baal 
and Yahweh in the early history of Israel, 
by Norman C. Habel. (New York: Twayne 
Publishers, 1964) 

The constantly growing enrollment in 
the School for Graduate Studies makes it 
very evident that it is destined to playa key 
role in developing men for a more excel­
lent ministry. 

The Fieldwork Program 
at Concordia Seminary 

I n a sense, there has always been field­
work at Concordia Seminary. Ever since 

the beginning of the school, students have 
been preaching, teaching, and generally 
exercising the skills of the pastoral min­
istry. In another sense, the beginning of 
the fieldwork program might be reckoned 
from the inauguration of the required year 
of vicarage, or internship. In the early 
1930s Synod asked the class that would 
have returned for its senior year to stay 
out for one year to work in the parish. 
The reason behind this plan seems to have 
been the need to cut down on the over­
supply of pastors during the depression 
years. Students benefited so much from 

By KENNETH H. BREIMEIER 

this extra year, however, that the vicarage 
has ever since been required of all students 
for graduation. 

In a stricter sense, though, the concept 
of fieldwork is of more recent origin and, 
in its full development at Concordia Semi­
nary, is almost unique among theological 
schools. Fieldwork generally came into its 
own around the time of World War II. 
At Concordia Seminary a compulsory sum­
mer fieldwork program was instituted dur­
ing the war. First a part-time and later 
a full-time fieldwork director became part 
of the staff. Thereupon followed a more 
systematic introduction to hospital calling 
and required experience in local parishes. 


